
AGENDA 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 9, 2021 – 10:00 AM 
BECAUSE OF THE CONTINUED CLOSURE OF LAND BANK OFFICES TO THE PUBLIC  

DUE TO THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC, THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY.   

THIS MEETING IS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO THIS MEETING  

AND TO SUBMIT PUBLIC COMMENTS ARE LOCATED ON THE PAGE 

FOLLOWING THE AGENDA 

AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Roll Call

2. Approval of Minutes of the Meeting of October 12, 2021

3. Executive Director's Report

4. Property Dispositions

A. Development – Affordable Housing
(1)  The properties below are proposed for disposition to BVG Property Group, LLC to develop

fourteen (14) mixed-income homeownership and rental units.  Two (2) single-family units
will be leased to households with incomes between 31% and 60% AMI and six (6) single-
family units will be leased to households with incomes between 61% and 80% AMI.  One
triplex will include three (3) market rate rental units.  The remaining three (3) single-family
units will be sold at market rate.  The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant
to the disposition policy.

• 1739 S. 5th Street; 1919 S. 6th Street; 2612 S. 9th Street; 411, 418, 424, 432-34, 624,
626 Cantrell Street; 424, 426 Mercy Street (CD1)
(Certain properties are being transferred by the Department of Public Property, PHDC,
or PRA to the Land Bank.)

(2)  The properties below are proposed for disposition to BVG Property Group, LLC to develop
eighteen (18) mixed-income rental units.  Two (2) units will be leased to households with
incomes between 31% and 60% AMI and ten (10) units will be leased to households with
incomes between 61% and 80% AMI.  The remaining six (6) units will be leased at market
rate. The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy.

• 2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. Birch Street; 2032 E. Lehigh Avenue; 2055, 2057 E. Rush
Street; 2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. Stella Street (CD1)
(Certain properties are being transferred by the Department of Public Property or PRA
to the Land Bank.)

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 1 of 191



(3) The forty-two (42) properties below are proposed for disposition to BMK Properties, LLC to
develop forty-three (43) mixed-income single-family homeownership units.  Eight (8) units
will be sold to households with incomes between 61% and 80% AMI and fourteen (14)
units will be sold to households with income between 81% and 120% AMI.  The remaining
twenty-one (21) units will be sold at market rate.  The application was unsolicited and
evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy.

• 2501, 2855, 2857 Amber Street; 2143, 2155, 2157 E. Birch Street; 2134, 2172 E.
Cambria Street; 2103, 2107 E. Cumberland Street; 2107 E. Dakota Street; 2478, 2480
Emerald Street; 2022 E. Fletcher Street; 1929, 1935, 1943, 2215-17 E. Harold Street;
2637, 2639, 2643, 2645, 2649 Janney Street; 2536 Jasper Street; 2639, 2641, 2643,
2653 Kensington Avenue; 2068 E. Monmouth Street; 1844 E. Oakdale Street; 2140,
2151, 2153, 2156 E. Orleans Street; 2646, 2658 Ritter Street;  2089 E. Somerset Street;
2106, 2133, 2135, 2250, 2252 E. William Street (CD1)
(Certain properties are being transferred by the Department of Public Property, PHDC
or PRA to the Land Bank.)

(4) The property below is proposed for conveyance to 2929 N. 13th LLC to develop three (3)
affordable rental units to be leased to households with incomes between 31% and 60%
AMI. The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy.
• 2929 N. 13th Street (CD5) (The property is being transferred by the Department of

Public Property to the Land Bank.)

(5) The forty-six (46) properties below are proposed for disposition to Paseo de Jardines LLC to
develop in conjunction with properties the Philadelphia Housing Authority will convey to
the developer for the development of one hundred two (102) mixed-income
homeownership units.  Of the 102 units, fifty-two (52) units will be sold to households with
incomes between 81% and 120% AMI.  The remaining fifty (50) units will be sold at market
rate.  The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy.

• 1922, 1938, 1942, 1944, 1946, 1950, 1952, 1954, 1956 N. 3rd Street; 1923, 1927,
1934, 1935 N. 4th Street; 1925 N. 5th Street; 301, 303, 305, 307, 309, 433, 437, 537 W.
Berks Street; 2004, 2015 N. Bodine Street; 401, 405, 407 W. Hewson Street; 1851,
1916, 1922, 1936, 1940 N. Leithgow Street; 313, 421 W. Norris Street; 1910, 1923,
1926, 1927, 1930, 1931, 1936, 1951, 1952, 1954, 1958, 1961 N. Orianna Street (CD7)
(Certain properties are being transferred by the Department of Public Property to the
Land Bank.)

B. Development – Assemblage
(1) The property below is proposed for disposition to Civetta Property Group, LLC to develop

one (1) single-family homeownership unit in conjunction with its affordable
homeownership project on the adjacent lots. The unit will be sold to a household with an
income between 61% and 80% AMI.  The application was unsolicited and evaluated
pursuant to the disposition policy.  The applicant owns at least 50% of the development
site.

• 2224 Wilder Street (CD2)

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 2 of 191



(2) The property below is proposed for disposition to Greys Ferry 009, LLC to develop a mixed-
use residential project with two (2) ground floor commercial spaces and nine (9) rental
units to be leased at market rate. The application was unsolicited and evaluated pursuant
to the disposition policy. The applicant owns at least 50% of the development site.

• 2715 Annin Street (CD2)

C. Development – Competitive Sale
(1) The property below is proposed for disposition to Civetta Property Group, LLC to develop

one (1) single-family homeownership rental unit that will be sold leased to a household
with an income between 81% and 120% AMI. Applications were solicited via a Competitive
Sale announcement for the property, and the applicant was the sole qualified bidder for
the property.
• 2215 S. 5th Street (CD1) (The property is being transferred by the PRA to the Land

Bank.)

(2) The property below is proposed for disposition to 3Square Developers, LLC to develop
twelve (12) single-family homeownership units that will be sold at market rate.
Applications were solicited via a Competitive Sale announcement for the property, and the
applicant was the sole qualified bidder for the property.

• 152-58 (aka 152) W. Logan Street (CD8) (The property is being transferred by the
Department of Public Property to the Land Bank.)

D. Gardens/Open Space
The property below is proposed for conveyance to RAH Civic Association, a nonprofit
organization under Pennsylvania law and registered community organization (RCO) in the
neighborhood. The RCO will stabilize the property for managed open space. The property will
be subject to a 30-year mortgage and permanently restricted for use as open space.
• 3119 N. 35th Street (CD4) (The property is being transferred by the Department of Public

Property to the Land Bank.)

E. Side/Rear Yards
The properties below are proposed for disposition to individual applicants as side or rear
yards.  The applicant must reside in and own the adjacent home.  Each property will be subject
to a 30-year mortgage and permanently restricted for us as a side or rear yard.

• 2046 Martha Street (CD1) – Qing Xia Yang and Matas Smakotinas

• 1932 S. Salford Street (CD2) – Najeemah S. Adams

5. Public Comment (Old & New Business)

6. Adjournment

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 3 of 191



phdcphila.org 

FROM: Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., Senior Counsel 

RE: Philadelphia Land Bank November 9, 2021 Board Meeting  
Remote Board Meeting Notice, Attendance, and Comment Procedures 

DATE:  October 29, 2021 

A meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank (“Land Bank”) is currently 
scheduled for Tuesday, November 9, 2021, to begin at 10:00 A.M.  Because of the continued closure 
of Land Bank offices to the public due to the COVID-19 pandemic, this meeting will be held remotely 
using Zoom webinar.  The meeting is open to public attendees and public comments and questions. 

To join the meeting using a computer, tablet or smartphone, use the following link:  
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82506082170?pwd=ZW9iMkp2b3pjeUs4Z1BkVm5WVFNjZz09 
Passcode to access the meeting: 732993 

To join the meeting by calling in, use one of the following options: 
iPhone one-tap: US: +13017158592,,82506082170#  or +13126266799,,82506082170#  
OR call +1-301-715-8592  or +1-312-626-6799  or +1-929-2056099  or +1-253-215-8782  or +1-346-
248-7799  or +1-669-900-6833
Webinar ID: 825 0608 2170; Passcode: 732993

The Board agenda and package will be available to view no later than five (5) days prior to the 
Board meeting at https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/. 

Public comment and questions regarding the matters that are posted on the agenda may be submitted prior 
to and during the Board meeting.  

If you are joining and viewing the Board meeting through the Zoom webinar link above, you will be able 
to submit your questions/comments live during the Board meeting through a "Question and Answer" 
window on the web interface. Do not use the Chat function for questions and comments.  The Board Chair 
may limit repetitious questions or comments.  Submissions will be attached to the minutes. 

If you wish to submit any questions or comments prior to the Board meeting, you must email the 
following information to andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov by 3:00 p.m. on Monday, November 8, 2021: 

• Your full name and group or company affiliation, if applicable;
• Contact information (your email address or phone number);
• Identify the agenda item that you are addressing; and
• Provide your question(s)/comment(s) in a clear and concise manner.

A note to those members of the public who submit the above information by email within the 
required time frame: your question(s) and/or comment(s) will be read at the Board meeting, 
answered or addressed to the extent possible, and attached to the minutes of the meeting.   

If possible, the Board meeting will be recorded and made publicly available within thirty (30) days.  If 
you have questions and/or comments following the conclusion of the Board meeting, please submit them 
as described above and they will be addressed to the extent possible at the next scheduled Board meeting. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 4 of 191

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82506082170?pwd=ZW9iMkp2b3pjeUs4Z1BkVm5WVFNjZz09
https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/
mailto:andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov


PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 1 of 29 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

OCTOBER 12, 2021 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT) 

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, 
October 12, 2021, commencing at 10:00 a.m. via Zoom webinar, of which proper notices were given.  

CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting was called to order at 10:01 a.m.  

Andrea Imredy Saah, Senior Counsel, made the following announcements: 

Today’s Board meeting is being held via an authorized communication device because of the continued 
closure of Land Bank offices to the public due to the pandemic.  This meeting is being recorded. 
Questions and comments may be made using the Q&A button at the bottom of the screen. If you are 
calling in and not using the Zoom webinar link, you may ask questions or make comments by hitting *9 
on your phone.  You can also use the “raise hand” function at the bottom of the screen.  Please do not 
use the chat function. If any member of the public has any issues submitting questions or comments, 
please send an email to Andrea.Saah@phdc.phila.gov.   

Prior to today’s Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session at which the Board received 
information about today’s agenda.   

Item 1 
Roll Call 

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Majeedah Rashid, Andrew 
Goodman, Joshu Harris, Michael Johns, Michael Koonce, Rebecca Lopez Kriss and Rick Sauer.   

The following board members were absent: Anne Fadullon, Alexander Balloon, Eric Bodzin and 
Richard DeMarco.   

Ms. Imredy Saah also stated that Eric Bodzin submitted a letter of resignation.  

The following staff members were present: Jessie Lawrence, Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy Saah, 
Esq., Jamila Davis, Cristina Martinez, Brian Romano and Carolyn Terry.  

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees is attached to these minutes. 

A quorum of directors was present, and the meeting, having been duly convened, proceeded with 
business.   

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 5 of 191

mailto:Andrea.Saah@phdc.phila.gov


PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 2 of 29 

Item 2 
Approval of Board Minutes 

 
Ms. Rashid called for questions or comments regarding the minutes of the Board meeting of 
September 14, 2021.  There were none.   
 
Ms. Rashid called for a motion to approve the minutes.   
 
Mr. Johns moved to approve the minutes.  Mr. Sauer seconded the motion.   
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the September 14, 2021 
Board Meeting Minutes.     
 

Item 3  
Executive Director’s Report 

 
Mr. Rodriguez reported to the Board on two items:  
 

(1) The Land Bank has hired two highly competent and qualified candidates for Senior 
Development Specialist positions who will join the staff on October 18th.  Both have prior 
experience in real estate development, which will help the Land Bank expand its capacity to 
move development projects forward.    
 

(2) The Land Bank is in the final stages of outfitting its conference rooms at 1234 Market Street 
with the necessary equipment and expects to have appropriate protocols and technology in 
place soon for the Board to meet in person and the public to attend virtually.   

  
Item 4  

Property Dispositions  
 
4.A.   Development – Affordable Housing  
 
4.A(1) 1739 S. 5th Street; 1919 S. 6th Street; 2612 S. 9th Street; 411, 418, 424, 432-34, 624, 626 

Cantrell Street; 424, 426 Mercy Street (CD1) – BVG Property Group, LLC  
 

Mr. Lawrence presented the proposed disposition of 1739 S. 5th Street; 1919 S. 6th Street; 2612 S. 
9th Street; 411, 418, 424, 432-34, 624, 626 Cantrell Street; and 424, 426 Mercy Street in the 1st 
Council District to BVG Property Group, LLC for the development of fourteen (14) mixed-income 
homeownership and rental units.  Eight (8) single-family units will be leased to households with 
incomes between 61% and 80% AMI. One triplex will include three (3) market rate rental units. The 
remaining three (3) single-family units will be sold at market rate. The proposal was unsolicited and 
was scored pursuant to the Disposition Policy in effect as of January 1, 2020.  The purchase price will 
be Sixteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($16,500).  Evidence of project financing has been 
provided, and the applicant is compliant and in good standing with the City of Philadelphia.  The 
project will require an Economic Opportunity Plan (“EOP”) and will be subject to an irrevocable 
power of attorney, a right of reentry, and a reverter provision.  A Declaration of Restrictive 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 6 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 3 of 29 

Covenants will be placed on the affordable units, and tenants in the affordable units will be required 
to submit to an annual income certification process.   
 
Ms. Rasheed asked if there were any questions from the Board. Mr. Johns asked how many of the 
units need to be affordable, and Mr. Lawrence stated that a minimum of 51% of the units must be 
affordable.  In response to Mr. Sauer’s question regarding the term of affordability, Mr. Lawrence 
clarified that the affordable rental units would have to remain affordable for fifteen (15) years.  Mr. 
Koonce asked what the rents would be for the affordable and the market rate rental units.  Mr. Justin 
Veasey, the developer, explained that the monthly rent range information from the Pennsylvania 
Housing Finance Agency (PHFA) provided by the Land Bank was $1,276 (60% AMI) to $1,702 
(80% AMI) for 2-BR (bedroom) units and $1,474 (60% AMI) to $1,966 (80% AMI) for 3-BR units.  
Two 2-BR units (1,300 sq.ft.) will rent at $1,300/month, two 2-BR units (1,300 sq.ft.) will rent at 
$1,650/month, two 3-BR units (1,300-1,400 sq.ft.) will rent at $1,550/month, and two 3-BR units 
(1,300-1,400 sq.ft.) will rent at $1,875/month.   
 
Mr. Harris asked whether governing legislation requires comparability (in terms of square footage, 
configuration, bathroom count) between affordable and market rate units in the disposition policy.  
Mr. Rodriguez stated that legislation is silent on this matter.   
 
Ms. Imredy Saah informed Ms. Rasheed that no public comments regarding this particular disposition 
were received.  Ms. Rasheed then recognized Mr. Jihad Ali, who stated that the email he had sent 
pertained to this disposition and asked whether the Board had received the email.  Mr. Rodriguez 
confirmed that his email (attached to these minutes as Exhibit A) had been forwarded to the Board.  
Mr. Ali raised concerns about the information provided to the Board for rental projects, including the 
absence of rent amounts in the fact sheet, as well as concerns about the plans for this disposition (i.e., 
the possibility that a room labeled as a den in the basement of the 2-BR units could be rented at a 
higher rent as a 3-BR unit).  He also requested that the EOP agreement with the MBE/WBE/DBE 
(minority/women/disabled business entity) target levels be included in the Board package so that it 
could inform the Board’s evaluation of each project it reviews. 
 
Ms. Rasheed then recognized Ms. Rachael Pritzker, the attorney for the developer, who clarified that 
the Purchase and Development Agreement and the EOP are not entered into until the Board has 
approved the disposition, as it would be premature for a developer to reach out to minority 
contractors prior to having some assurance that the project could proceed.  She also stated that the 
floor plans must be reviewed and approved by L&I before the Land Bank will proceed to settlement, 
and any necessary revisions would be implemented prior to settlement.  Mr. Veasey addressed the 
issue of the den as an option for 2-BR units, since feedback from the community had indicated that 
single-family homes are more likely to be rented by families with children, and that although the 
developer’s intent would prefer that the den not to be used as a bedroom, it could be used as such.  He 
also stated that the floor plans could be revised if necessary.   
 
Mr. Rodriguez answered a question in the chat about current AMI (Area Median Income) for a family 
of four (the standard provided by the PHFA) in Philadelphia.  The Board then discussed the meaning 
of and relationship between AMI levels, family size and number of bedrooms. Board members asked 
that the family size be provided by staff when providing expected rents at each AMI level and that 
the Board package provide a list of which units will be located at which address.  Mr. Rodriguez 
pointed out that all tenants in the affordable units would be income-certified and that family size 
would factor into the approval at that time.  Mr. Koonce asked that the Board have further discussions 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 7 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 4 of 29 

about setting targets for affordable rents.  Mr. Johns pointed out that PHFA and HUD rent ranges are 
based on a family of four and that AMI is based on Area Median Income not just in Philadelphia but 
in the surrounding PA counties, Camden and northern Delaware.  A rent that is considered to be 
affordable under PHFA (Pennsylvania Housing Finance Agency) guidelines may be the same as 
market rate rents in a particular area where the median income is lower than the official AMI.     
 
Another question was about the percentage of monthly income that the PHFA rents would represent, 
and Mr. Rodriguez confirmed that PHFA rents are based on the tenant not spending more than 30% 
of annual income on rent.  A question was posted in the Q&A about commitments to sustainable 
building measures, greening and stormwater management, and Mr. Rodriguez stated that those 
aspects of a development are governed by other departments in the city; the Land Bank only reviews 
the feasibility of the project and its qualification under the disposition policy.  Another question was 
about whether any of these units were Section 8 housing, and Mr. Rodriguez stated that the Land 
Bank does not determine whether a unit can be occupied by a Section 8 housing subsidy recipient.  In 
response to other questions in the Q&A, he also clarified that PHDC will conduct the income 
certification process and determine whether a tenant is income-qualified.   
 
Seeing that there were no other questions from the Board or the public, Ms. Rasheed called for a 
motion regarding the proposed disposition to BVG Property Group, LLC.      
 
Ms. Lopez Kriss moved to approve the disposition.  Mr. Harris seconded the motion.    
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board voted on the Resolution Authorizing Conveyance 
of 1739 S. 5th Street; 1919 S. 6th Street; 2612 S. 9th Street; 411, 418, 424, 432-34, 624, 626 Cantrell 
Street; 424, 426 Mercy Street to BVG Property Group, LLC.  Five Board members voted in favor, 
while Mr. Koonce and Mr. Johns abstained.   
 
NOTE: Although the vote was initially believed to be sufficient to approve the disposition, a review 
of the Land Bank’s bylaws during the meeting confirmed that the vote was insufficient to 
affirmatively approve or reject the disposition, and the item was therefore tabled and postponed to the 
November Board meeting. (See the paragraph following Item 4.C. below for information regarding 

the validity of the vote.)  

      
The Board proceeded to consider agenda item 4.A(3) out of order, since the developer had a conflict 
and would have to leave the meeting soon.   
 
4.A(3) 2419, 2501, 2855, 2857 Amber Street; 2143, 2155, 2157 E. Birch Street; 2318 E. Boston 

Street; 2134, 2172 E. Cambria Street; 2103, 2107 E. Cumberland Street; 2107 E. Dakota 
Street; 2478, 2480 Emerald Street; 2405 E. Firth Street; 2022 E. Fletcher Street, 2048 E. 
Fletcher Street; 1929, 1935, 1943, 2215-17 E. Harold Street; 2637, 2639, 2643, 2645, 2649 
Janney Street; 2536 Jasper Street; 2639, 2641, 2643, 2653 Kensington Avenue; 2633 Martha 
Street; 2068 E. Monmouth Street; 1844, 1920 E. Oakdale Street; 2140, 2151, 2153, 2156 E. 
Orleans Street; 2646, 2658 Ritter Street; 2089 E. Somerset Street; 2106, 2133, 2135, 2250, 
2252 E. William Street (CD1) – BMK Properties, LLC 

 
Mr. Lawrence presented the proposed disposition of 2419, 2501, 2855, 2857 Amber Street; 2143, 
2155, 2157 E. Birch Street; 2134, 2172 E. Cambria Street; 2103, 2107 E. Cumberland Street; 2107 E. 
Dakota Street; 2478, 2480 Emerald Street; 2405 E. Firth Street; 2022 E. Fletcher Street; 1929, 1935, 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 8 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 5 of 29 

1943, 2215-17 E. Harold Street; 2637, 2639, 2643, 2645, 2649 Janney Street; 2536 Jasper Street; 
2639, 2641, 2643, 2653 Kensington Avenue; 2633 Martha Street; 2068 E. Monmouth Street; 1844, 
1920 E. Oakdale Street; 2140, 2151, 2153, 2156 E. Orleans Street; 2646, 2658 Ritter Street; 2089 E. 
Somerset Street; and 2106, 2133, 2135, 2250, 2252 E. William Street in the 1st Council District to 
BMK Properties, LLC for the development of forty-seven (47) single-family mixed-income 
homeownership units.  Eight (8) units will be sold to households with incomes between 61% and 
80% AMI, sixteen (16) units will be sold to households with income between 81% and 120% AMI, 
and the remaining twenty-three (23) units will be sold at market rate.  The proposal was unsolicited 
and was scored pursuant to the Disposition Policy in effect as of January 1, 2020.  The purchase price 
will be Ninety-Six Thousand Dollars ($96,000).  Evidence of project financing has been provided, 
and the applicant is compliant and in good standing with the City of Philadelphia.  The project will 
require an Economic Opportunity Plan (“EOP”) and will be subject to an irrevocable power of 
attorney, a right of reentry and a reverter provision.  A Declaration of Restrictive Covenants will be 
placed on the affordable units, and purchasers for the affordable units will be income-certified.   
 
Ms. Rasheed recognized Mr. Mo Rushdy, one of the developers.  Mr. Rushdy provided additional 
information about the homes to be developed: all will have three bedrooms, two bathrooms, with the 
affordable units to be two-story homes at 1,200 sq. ft. and the market rate homes to be three-story 
homes at 1,600 sq. ft.  At current interest rates, the estimated monthly payment for an 80% AMI unit 
will be approximately $930/month (including the $780 mortgage payment and $150 for insurance and 
taxes, assuming that the homes receive a tax abatement), with a 3% down payment.  At 30% of 
income to be paid for housing, this would allow applicants with a minimum household income of 
$3,000/month to purchase these homes.  The estimated monthly payment for the 120% AMI units 
will be $1,120/month (including the $970 mortgage payment and $150 for insurance and taxes, 
assuming the homes receive a tax abatement), with a 3% down payment.  This would allow 
applicants with a minimum household income of $3,316/month to purchase these homes.  The 
developer is working with four banks to provide financing to income-certified purchasers with 
minimum credit scores of 620-640.  Mr. Rushdy also mentioned that the average household income 
for purchasers of the 120% AMI units that BMK Properties built in 2015-2016 on Land Bank 
property was $46,000-$48,000.  The sales price would be $185,000 for a 80% AMI home ($5,750 
down payment and $179,250 mortgage) and $230,000 for a 120% AMI home ($7,000 down payment 
and $223,000 mortgage).   
 
Mr. Rodriguez indicated that two properties were removed from the original list of properties (2318 
E. Boston Street and 2048 E. Fletcher Street) for various reasons.  The disposition of those properties 
will be determined in the future.  Ms. Imredy Saah then read emails from the public (attached to these 
minutes as Exhibit B) regarding various individual lots being used as side yards and for distribution 
of supplies to the homeless, as well as about the disposition of lots for housing development instead 
of other uses.  The tenor of the emails was in opposition to a disposition for housing, even if it is for 
affordable housing.   
 
Ms. Rasheed then recognized Mr. Ali, who spoke in support of the disposition to BMK Properties, 
LLC due to BMK Properties’ track record building and selling affordable homes and involving 
MBE/WBE/DBE contractors in the development.  He also requested that the affordable units be 
marketed to potential purchasers across the city, not just in Kensington.  Mr. Rushdy responded that 
BMK Properties, LLC is committed to building more affordable homes across the city.  However, 
they work closely with neighborhood organizations to market units to people who live in the 
neighborhood first, so that they can purchase homes in the neighborhood they already live in.  In 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 9 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 6 of 29 

response to a question about the 10-year tax abatement, he indicated that they are also working with 
council members and state legislators on programs to make homes affordable to purchasers at lower 
income levels and to provide full 10-year property tax abatements for low-income purchasers rather 
than the stepped-down property tax abatement going into effect for all developments next year.  In 
response to Mr. Sauer’s question about current market rate sale prices in the neighborhood, Mr. 
Rushdy stated that comparable new construction homes are selling in the $290,000-$340,000 range.  
In response to Mr. Johns’ question about EOP targets, Mr. Rushdy stated that in their past 
developments, they have either met or exceeded the City’s targets of 25% MBE contractors and 10% 
WBE contractors, including the professional services members of their development team.   
 
Mr. Rodriguez then responded to various questions in the Q&A comments, confirming that the 
purchasers of affordable units would have to be income-certified and that the units would remain 
affordable for a specified period of time. 
 
Ms. Alison Weis offered her suggestion that the Land Bank should give the right of first refusal to 
side yard applicants.  Mr. Rodriguez stated that no qualified applications for side yards were received 
for the properties included in the bundle of properties being proposed for disposition.  Mr. Goodman 
and Mr. Sauer asked if there was precedent for removing the lots identified as used by community 
organizations from the bundle of properties or whether the Land Bank could take a closer look at the 
properties identified in the public comments.  Mr. Rodriguez stated that many of the Land Bank’s 
vacant lots are occupied but that the Land Bank had not received a qualified application for any of the 
properties in this proposed disposition.  The Board would have to decide whether they wanted the 
Land Bank to further review the list of properties.   
 
Mr. Harris added that although the disposition policy considers 120% AMI to be affordable, the 
reality is that 120% AMI is generally not affordable for typical low or moderate income Philadelphia 
households.  For this disposition, he would want to see additional information about financial 
assistance to those households so that they could qualify to purchase these units.   
 
Seeing no further questions or comments, Ms. Rasheed called for a motion regarding the proposed 
disposition to BMK Properties, LLC.   
 
Mr. Koonce moved to approve the disposition.  Ms. Lopez Kriss seconded the motion.    
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board voted on the Resolution Authorizing Conveyance 
of 2419, 2501, 2855, 2857 Amber Street; 2143, 2155, 2157 E. Birch Street; 2134, 2172 E. Cambria 
Street; 2103, 2107 E. Cumberland Street; 2107 E. Dakota Street; 2478, 2480 Emerald Street; 2405 E. 
Firth Street; 2022 E. Fletcher Street; 1929, 1935, 1943, 2215-17 E. Harold Street; 2637, 2639, 2643, 
2645, 2649 Janney Street; 2536 Jasper Street; 2639, 2641, 2643, 2653 Kensington Avenue; 2633 
Martha Street; 2068 E. Monmouth Street; 1844, 1920 E. Oakdale Street; 2140, 2151, 2153, 2156 E. 
Orleans Street; 2646, 2658 Ritter Street; 2089 E. Somerset Street; 2106, 2133, 2135, 2250, 2252 E. 
William Street to BMK Properties, LLC.  Five (5) Board members voted in favor, while Mr. 
Goodman and Mr. Sauer voted against the disposition.  
 
NOTE: Although the vote was initially believed to be sufficient to approve the disposition, a review 
of the Land Bank’s bylaws during the meeting confirmed that the vote was insufficient to 
affirmatively approve or reject the disposition, and the item was therefore tabled and postponed to the 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 10 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 7 of 29 

November Board meeting. (See the paragraph following Item 4.C. below for information regarding 

the validity of the vote.)  

      
4.A(2) 2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. Birch Street; 2032 E. Lehigh Avenue; 2055, 2057 E. Rush Street; 

2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. Stella Street (CD1) – BVG Property 
Group, LLC 

 
Mr. Lawrence presented the proposed disposition of 2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. Birch Street; 2032 E. 
Lehigh Avenue; 2055, 2057 E. Rush Street; and 2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. 
Stella Street in the 1st Council District to BVG Property Group, LLC to develop eighteen (18) mixed-
income rental units.  Twelve (12) units will be leased to households with incomes between 61% and 
80% AMI. The remaining six (6) units will be leased at market rate. The proposal was unsolicited and 
was scored pursuant to the Disposition Policy in effect as of January 1, 2020.  The purchase price will 
be Twenty-Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($22,500).  Evidence of project financing has been 
provided, and the applicant is compliant and in good standing with the City of Philadelphia.  The 
project will require an Economic Opportunity Plan (“EOP”) and will be subject to an irrevocable 
power of attorney, a right of reentry, and a reverter provision.  A Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants will be placed on the affordable units, and tenants in the affordable units will be required 
to submit to an annual income certification process.   
 
In response to Mr. Koonce’s question about rents for the affordable units, Mr. Veasey responded with 
the following information: three 2-BR units (1,300 sq. ft.) will rent at $1,350/month (60% AMI), 
three 2-BR units (1,300 sq. ft.) will rent at $1,650/month (80% AMI), three 3-BR units (1,300-1,400 
sq. ft.) will rent at $1,550/month (60% AMI), and three 3-BR units (1,300-1,400 sq. ft.) will rent at 
$1,875/month.   
 
Ms. Imredy Saah then read emails from the public (attached to these minutes as Exhibit C) regarding 
2055 and 2057 E. Rush Street and regarding the development of rental units rather than 
homeownership units in the neighborhood.  Ms. Rasheed then recognized Mr. Ali, who reiterated his 
concern about the inclusion of a den (potential 3rd bedroom) in the plans and about the absence of 
information about the developer’s MBE/WBE/DBE targets.  Mr. Veasey replied to a public comment 
that stated a preference for homeownership over rental units and stated that both units on E. Rush 
Street would be market rate rental units, but that he would consider eventually selling them after 
further discussion with the RCO in the neighborhood.  He stated he had numerous conversations with 
Pastor Harris of the RCO and the Councilman in the 1st Council District to ensure that the rent levels 
were affordable for the neighborhood, and he confirmed that he will abide by the rent limits for each 
of the units.   
 
Mr. Jonathan Howe spoke about his interest as a new homeowner in acquiring 2055 and 2057 E. 
Rush Street as a side yard and requested a first right of refusal, commenting on the increased burden 
on parking for the neighborhood posed by multifamily units.  Mr. Lawrence responded that no email 
regarding a request to purchase those properties as a side yard was received at the Land Bank’s 
general inquiry email address, and that whoever Mr. Howe might have spoken with at PHDC did not 
convey the information to the Land Bank.  Mr. Rodriguez also clarified that if the Land Bank has an 
existing qualified application in hand for a particular property or group of properties, under the 
governing legislation it cannot accept any other application before the first application is processed, 
brought to the Board and voted upon.   
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 11 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 8 of 29 

Ms. Rachael Pritzker, attorney for the developer, then addressed Mr. Ali’s comments on 
commitments to MBE/WBE/DBE participation in the development, stating that that the developer 
would be interested in working with the Land Bank and with Mr. Ali on identifying contractors in the 
area that are available for the project.  In response to Mr. Howe’s comments, she confirmed that the 
developer had submitted the application over six months ago and pointed out that the Land Bank was 
required to consider the City’s need for affordable housing in evaluating applications for each of the 
City’s neighborhoods.  Mr. Howe responded that the attorney’s comments did not seem to 
acknowledge the community’s concerns about their neighborhood and that the application process is 
not clear and transparent to community members, which is why he is asking for consideration at this 
time.   
 
Ms. Weiss then spoke in support of applicants for side yards in general.  She also stated that much 
affordable housing in Germantown (Germantown Settlement) that the city invested much money into 
has sat idle for years.  Mr. Rodriguez then clarified that the Germantown Settlement properties Ms. 
Weiss referenced were recently reacquired by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority via a legal 
process and have undergone a capital needs assessment.  The PRA is also in the process of 
developing an in-depth community evaluation process that will take time.  Furthermore, the 
properties are currently not habitable and will need to undergo extensive renovation.   
 
Mr. Rodriguez then read several other public comments (all written public comments and questions 
are attached to these minutes as Exhibit D) and provided responses to them. 
 
Seeing no further questions or comments, Ms. Rasheed called for a motion regarding the proposed 
disposition to BVG Property Group, LLC.   
 
Ms. Lopez Kriss moved to approve the disposition.  Mr. Harris seconded the motion.   
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board voted on the Resolution Authorizing Conveyance 
of 2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. Birch Street; 2032 E. Lehigh Avenue; 2055, 2057 E. Rush Street; 2154, 
2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. Stella Street to BVG Property Group, LLC.  Ms. Lopez 
Kriss and Mr. Harris voted in favor, none voted against, and the other five abstained. (Ms. Rasheeed 
did not indicate her vote, which therefore counts as an abstention.)  Given the large number of 
abstentions, Ms. Imredy Saah proposed that the Board move on to the next agenda item while she 
consulted the Land Bank’s bylaws regarding the outcome of the vote.  The Board agreed to do so. 
(See the paragraph following Item 4.C. below for information regarding the validity of the vote.)  

  
Mr. Harris then announced that he had a prior obligation and left the meeting.  Since a quorum still 
existed, the Board proceeded to consider the next item. 
 
4.B.  Development – Assemblage  (TABLED) 

• 2715 Annin Street (CD2) 
The proposed disposition to Greys Ferry 009, LLC was tabled prior to the meeting.  
 
4.C.   Development – Competitive Sales 

• 2505 Emerald Street (CD1) – Civetta Property Group, LLC 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 12 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 9 of 29 

Mr. Lawrence presented the proposed disposition of 2505 Emerald Street in the 1st Council District to 
Civetta Property Group, LLC for the development of one (1) single-family homeownership unit that 
will be sold to a household with an income between 81% and 120% AMI. Applications were solicited 
via a Competitive Sale announcement for the property, and the applicant was the sole qualified bidder 
for the property.  The bid price was One Thousand Dollars ($1,000).  Evidence of project financing 
has been provided, and the applicant is compliant and in good standing with the City of Philadelphia.  
The project will require an Economic Opportunity Plan (“EOP”) and will be subject to an irrevocable 
power of attorney, a right of reentry, and a reverter provision.  A Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants will be placed on the unit, and the purchaser will be income-certified. 
 
In response to a question about the sale price for the home to a qualified homeowner, Mr. Michael 
Tomasetti, the developer, responded that the sale price would be $250,000.  He also stated that his 
MBE/WBE/DBE target for the EOP was 35%.  Responding to questions posed by Mr. Ali, Mr. 
Lawrence clarified that the developer had bid $1,000 for the property and that Civetta Property Group 
was not just the sole qualified bidder but the only bidder.  Responding to both Mr. Ali’s and Mr. 
Johns’ questions, Mr. Rodriguez explained that the Land Bank does not post a minimum bid price for 
a property posted for Competitive Sale; it provides appraised value and other property information on 
the website, and applicants can then submit an application with a bid of their choosing for a project of 
their choosing.  The appraised value of this lot is $115,000, but the bid was $1,000.  The scoring 
rubric legislated by City Council and effective as of January 1, 2020 allocates only 5 points out of 
100 points for the price offered by the bidder; prior to that legislation, financial feasibility and bid 
price were given greater weight in the scoring and therefore mattered more.  Multiple factors are 
considered in scoring an application, and if the application does not meet the minimum score of 65 
points, the application is rejected. Since this was the only application and a qualified application, the 
Land Bank is obligated to present it to the Board.  In response to Mr. Ali’s question about marketing 
the competitive sale postings, Mr. Rodriguez described multiple channels the Land Bank uses to 
market competitive sales and RFPs.   
 
Mr. Koonce requested that the staff provide historic MBE/WBE/DBE participation numbers for 
developers that have already developed on Land Bank properties when the staff presents a new 
application by the developer to the Board.   
 
Mr. Rodriguez responded to a question posted in the chat by clarifying that the Land Bank is required 
by legislation to appraise the property and post the appraised value as part of a competitive sale or 
RFP listing.  Ms. Lopez Kriss asked if the staff could provide a clearer explanation of the competitive 
sale process on the website, and Mr. Rodriguez indicated that the staff would conduct a review.   
 
Seeing no further questions or comments, Ms. Rasheed called for a motion regarding the proposed 
disposition to Civetta Property Group, LLC.   
 
Mr. Koonce moved to approve the disposition.  Mr. Sauer seconded the motion.   
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 
Conveyance of 2505 Emerald Street to Civetta Property Group, LLC (attached to these minutes as 
Exhibit E). 
 
At this time, Mr. Rodriguez stated that the Land Bank’s bylaws require that any disposition of 
property valued at more than $50,000 must be approved by a majority of the entire Board of 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 13 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 10 of 29 

Directors, which means a minimum of six (6) affirmative votes are required, as the Land Bank Board 
has eleven (11) members.  Upon review of the vote tallies for items A(1), A(2) and A(3), none of the 
votes were sufficient to approve the dispositions, but the dispositions were also not rejected, as 
abstentions do not count toward either affirmative or negative vote tallies and only count towards a 
quorum.  Ms. Imredy Saah recommended that the Board table the three dispositions and postpone 
them to the November Board meeting.  Following another review of the tallies, Mr. Rodriguez stated 
that the dispositions would be tabled and placed on the November Board meeting agenda for 
consideration.   
 

Item 5 
Public Comment (Old & New Business)  

 
Mr. Rodriguez read a public comment and a question posted by Mr. Howe in the Q&A and responded 
by clarifying that the Board is required to consider an existing qualified application it has already 
received before it can consider other applications.  If the Board should vote to reject an application, 
then the properties will be made available for other applications to be submitted.   
 
Ms. Weiss asked for an update on 28 Reger Street, which was approved by the Land Bank Board in a 
prior meeting but has not been approved by Council resolution.  Mr. Rodriguez stated that the Land 
Bank is still seeking clarification from the Councilperson regarding her intention.  If she declines to 
introduce the resolution, the Land Bank will send a letter to the applicant for 28 Reger Street 
canceling the disposition.   
 
Mr. Ali thanked the Board for allowing him to raise his concerns and disagreed with the prior 
comment stating that the Board ignored community input and allowed public comment simply to 
comply with the law.  He also asked that the recommendations proposed by Board members asking 
for information to be added to the Board package be implemented for the November Board meeting.   
 

Item 6 
Adjournment 

 
There being no further business to address, Ms. Rasheed called for a motion to adjourn the meeting.   
 
Mr. Sauer moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Koonce seconded the motion.  
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board voted to adjourn at 12:31 pm. 
 
   

___________________________ 
SECRETARY TO THE BOARD  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 14 of 191



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 11 of 29 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 
 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING  
Tuesday, October 12, 2021 at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar.  

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 15 of 191



EXHIBIT A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 12 of 29 

From: jihad jihadali.com <jihad@jihadali.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 1:06 PM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Public comment Oct 12 Agenda Items 
 
Hello, 
 
My name is Jihad Ali  
email. Jihad@jihadali.com 

 

I would like to address the following Agenda items. 

 

Property  Disposition Item A1, A2, and A3 
 
C. Development Sales 

In the Property Dispositions, it references The Philadelphia Code 16-404 and 17-707. The code states that the 
disposition shall be competitive and has notice posting requirements. Were these dispositions posted at the 
sites? What board resolution of the land bank authorizes a noncompetitive sale? 
 
The code puts the limits at sixty percent of AMI. What authorizes the AMI limits set by this action. 
 
There is a discrepancy in the drawing mislabeling a bedroom on multiple sites. This error may have resulted 
in an underreporting for the income for the projects. 
 
The proforma and Development FACT sheet is not included for all agenda items. When was the competitive  
sale posted for Item C 
 

Best regards , 

 

Jihad Ali 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 16 of 191

mailto:jihad@jihadali.com
mailto:Jihad@jihadali.com


EXHIBIT B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 13 of 29 

From: Lisa Miller <lisamocmiller@gmail.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 9:46 AM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: October 12, 2021: Property Dispositions; Development; BMK Properties; 1943 E Harold Street 

 

To Whom It May Concern, 

I am Lisa Miller and I am a homeowner of 1945 E Harold Street. My email address is l 

isamocmiller@gmail.com and my best contact number is 2673193930. I am reaching out in concern of 

agenda 4 Property Dispositions: A Development Section 3 for proposed disposition to BMK Properties LLC. I 

am interested in acquiring the vacant lot 1943 E Harold Street. 

As a homeowner of 1945 E Harold Street, I have been investing my time and resources maintaining the lot of 

1943 E Harold Street. I had reached out to the city last year concerning the status of this lot and if I could 

purchase it from the city. I see that these parcels of land are designed to be developed and sold as affordable 

housing. If I am permitted to acquire the land, I am interested in developing this vacant lot to provide 

affordable rentals to residents of Philadelphia. 

I hope we can come up with an agreement concerning this vacant lot. 

Sincerely, 

Lisa Miller 

 

 

 

 

 

From: kristina brown <kristinabrown2008@gmail.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 11:03 AM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Attention: Andrea Imredy Dash, Senior Counsel 

 
Regarding: 1920 E Oakdale Street, Philadelphia PA 19125 
 
Hello, 
 
I am the property owner adjacent to 1920 E Oakdale Street. I have been maintaining the lot for 2+ years. My 
intention, as well as the other neighbor with an adjacent house, is to open the space as a public garden for 
the community. We do not want housing built on this land. 
 

We will be on the Zoom call Tuesday 10/12/2021.  

Thank you for your time. 

Matthew and Kristina Costello 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 17 of 191

mailto:lisamocmiller@gmail.com
mailto:isamocmiller@gmail.com
mailto:kristinabrown2008@gmail.com


EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 14 of 29 

From: Lisa Wilk <lisa.wilk8@gmail.com> 

Sent: Tuesday, October 12, 2021 10:40 AM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Fwd: Response to Your Inquiry #277687 for Acct# 311190801 

 

Hi Andrea, 
 
I am adding this email here because I asked several times to purchase this lot. I was hoping to talk but I work 
today...I am listening but not sure if I can the whole time. 
 
2633 Martha was not taken care of by the city and my roommate cleaned this lot up ALOT! I am very sad to 
see the department hand over this lot with several other properties when the neighboring properties asked 
multiple times to purchase it. 
 
My roommate made this junk lot into a beautiful lot where people were sleeping, doing drugs and dead animals 
were laying for months. With help from our neighbors we all fixed it up together. I have plenty of photos of us 
fixing up this lot. 
 
I am extremely concerned when construction occurs what may happen to my home. I had a horrible 
experience with the other house next to me , the developer almost killed me because of the chimney 
collapsing and causing carbon monoxide poisoning.  
 

My question is why were neighbors denied to buy this to keep it as a shared garden? I believe my roommate 
should be acknowledged for the work she put into this and not have the lot taken from under us without 
talking to us. We've maintained this property, not the city. I tried several times to purchase it. 
 
If this developer is to get this property, what will the city do to ensure attached homes are not destroyed? 
Because clearly when it was a vacant lot it was not taken care of so I am concerned what will happen to my 
property and my neighbors. Also, if you approve today, how soon will this happen so I can notify structural 
engineers if digging is to occur. 
 

Attached is a photo of the lot now. Before it was 6 to 8 ft tall weeds. The fence was falling over, my home 
was vandalized when I first moved in. 
Thank you. 
Lisa 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 18 of 191

mailto:lisa.wilk8@gmail.com


EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 15 of 29 

From: Marialena Mather <mlena.mather@gmail.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 1:28 PM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Land Bank Comment 

 

Hello, 
 

I’ve been made aware that the Philadelphia Land Bank is planning on selling Kensington lots to land 
developers. This is not what the community of Kensington needs. We do not need more gentrification 
contributing to rising costs of rent, increasing the already rapid rates of houselessness in the area. Housing 
should be a right that everyone has equal access to, and gentrification resulting in displacement would not 
allow that. This is just an opportunity for investments for companies and NOT the people. I demand the 
Philadelphia Land Bank to stop selling the lots. 
-- 
Marialena Mather 
They/she/he 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

From: Aileene Halligan Cantiello <aileene.halligan@gmail.com> 

Sent: Tuesday, October 12, 2021 10:40 AM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Kensington Lots 

 

Hello Ms. Saah, 
 
I’m writing to advocate that the relevant lots in Kensington #s 2639‐53 not be sold off to developers. Our 
neighbors need land in local hands for community gardens and play spaces. Please help us return the lots to 
community organizations so they can be beautified by neighbors. We don’t need more overpriced housing 
that destabilized the fabric of Philly neighborhoods. Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Sincerely, Aileene 

—— 
Aileene Halligan Cantiello 
She/her 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 19 of 191

mailto:mlena.mather@gmail.com
mailto:aileene.halligan@gmail.com
mailto:aileene.halligan@gmail.com


EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 16 of 29 

From: Cydney Berlinger <cydney.berlinger@gmail.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 4:40 PM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: sale of lots on Kensington Ave 

 

To whom it may concern, 
 
My name is Cydney and I'm a Philadelphia resident. I'm writing to you today to express my extreme concern 
about the proposal to sell lots 2639, 2643, 2641, and 2653 Kensington Ave in addition to other lots 
throughout the Kensington neighborhood. These lots should remain in possession of community members 
and NOT be sold to developers looking to build more housing (regardless of whether the proposed housing is 
"affordable" or "at market rate"). Lots like these are vital to communities; they serve as green spaces for play 
and gathering as well as a variety of other uses. Selling them to money-hungry developers will only further 
the housing inequality in our city and the growing amount of Philadelphia natives who are being priced out of 
their neighborhoods. Let the community keep access to these lots and strike down this proposed sale. 
 

Thank you for your time 
Cydney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From: Michaela Murray <michaelamurray94@gmail.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 6:49 PM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Philadelphia Landbank Decision on Empty Lots 

 

Hi Andrea, 
 
I’ve lived in Kensington for almost 10 years and in that span of time the neighborhood has 
changed from a space consisting of diverse backgrounds, aesthetics and experiences to one 
consisting of a homogenized landscape and personnel. Everything about the changes this 
neighborhood has gone through represent a pandering to residents of a higher 
socioeconomic status rather than an effort to uplift those who have spent their lives here. 
Don’t hand over vacant lots and green spaces to developers in Kensington and continue the 
gentrification of this area. 
-- 

-- 
Michaela Murray 
 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 20 of 191

mailto:cydney.berlinger@gmail.com
mailto:michaelamurray94@gmail.com


EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 17 of 29 

From: Olivia Bradberry <ohbradberry1396@gmail.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 7:11 PM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Vacant Lots 
 
Hello Andrea, 
 
My name is Olivia, I am a Philadelphia resident, and I was emailing to give my thoughts on the prospect of the 
Philadelphia Land Bank selling off vacant lots in the Kensington area to developers. 
 

I think that the last thing that Kensington needs is more gentrification. There is clearly a huge housing 
problem in Kensington and while there are many steps that could be taken to help the Kensington houseless 
community access housing, I think we can all agree that development projects would raise rent in the area, 
and put even more people out of a house. It is also my understanding that many of these lots are currently 
used for community support efforts such as grass-roots supply distribution. 
 
I would love to see these lots used in a way that would directly benefit the people of Kensington, such as 
affordable/supportive housing (no market-rate at all!!!), youth centers, community gardens, parks, etc. 
 

Thanks for accepting comments, I hope you take this one into consideration. 
 
Best, 
Olivia 
 
 
 
From: Sarah Gertler <sarah@gertler.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 1:11 PM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Comment on Kensington Lot Sale 

 
Hello, 
 
This is a comment on the Philadelphia Land Bank sale of green lots in Kensington to developers. 
I'm a Philadelphia resident, and I am firmly against this sale. 
 
I personally am part of a group called Community Action Relief Project that volunteers outside of one of the 
lots--2653 Kensington Ave--every weekend to distribute food, clothing, and harm reduction supplies. If this 
lot, a green space that used to be a community garden, were developed into the proposed housing, not only 
would it fail to help those in need of housing who come by every week to receive basic resources they can't 
access otherwise, but it would contribute to gentrification of the area that would harm these longtime 
Philadelphia residents and wipe out the existing character of the community. 
 
Instead of selling them off to profit-hungry developers, the city of Philadelphia has an opportunity to use 
these lots to help the community grow and flourish -- by turning them into community gardens, youth 
centers, harm reduction facilities, or housing that is truly accessible to the locals who need it. Investing in the 
people who live here brings enormous returns. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit this comment,  
Sarah Gertler  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 21 of 191

mailto:ohbradberry1396@gmail.com
mailto:sarah@gertler.com


EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 18 of 29 

From: Sal Hamerman <sehamerman@gmail.com> 

Sent: Monday, October 11, 2021 7:14 PM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Feedback on Philadelphia Land Bank Agenda Item A3: Development of 2653 Kensington Ave. and 46 

Other Properties 

Attachments: Land Bank Feedback.pdf 

 

My name is Sal Hamerman. I am a Kensington resident and a volunteer with Community Action Relief Project 
(CARP), a mutual aid and harm reduction group operating at 2659 Kensington Avenue. I oppose the proposed 
development of 47 properties by BMK Properties and believe it will contribute to rising housing costs and 
further displacement and neglect of Kensington's most vulnerable residents. 
 
Each Saturday and Sunday in front of the 2653 Kensington lot, the Community Action Relief Project provides 
food, hygiene supplies, clothing, first aid, and harm reduction services to over 100 community members, 
including folks experiencing homelessness and addiction as well as low-income neighbors who are struggling 
to make ends meet. The proposed development will fail to provide housing for those who do not currently 
have it, and will price out many tenants in the area who have long called this neighborhood home. This plan 
reflects the desires of developers to line their pockets, not the desires and needs of poor and working class 
Philadelphians. 
 
As Anthony, a neighbor and CARP participant told us in response to the proposed sale, "Born and raised 
here my whole life, I’m 37 years old, I was born right on York Street. They bring these guys in from 
wherever they’re from, you know, the rich—they call us “leftovers,” that’s what they call us. 
Leftovers. And it’s disrespectful. These people, they don’t care about shit but theirselves and each 
other, like they got their friends and they only buy from each other—they’re not helping the 
community none, they’re just helping theirselves get richer. That’s all their doing, that’s all they care 
about.” 
 

I am attaching several responses by individuals who receive aid from CARP, and you can read in their own 
words what poor people want here in Kensington: low-income housing, supportive housing for folks 
struggling with addiction, homelessness, and mental health issues, community gardens and safe places for 
kids. We cannot address the many struggles facing Kensington unless we actually LISTEN to our neighbors 
and give them the support they are asking for; we cannot help low-income people stay housed unless we 
treat housing as a HUMAN RIGHT, not an investment opportunity. 
 
Thank you for your time, 
Sal Hamerman & Community Action Relief Project 
 
(Attached pages follow) 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 22 of 191

mailto:sehamerman@gmail.com


EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 19 of 29 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 23 of 191



EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 20 of 29 

 

 
  
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 24 of 191



EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 21 of 29 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 25 of 191



EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 22 of 29 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 26 of 191



EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 23 of 29 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 27 of 191



EXHIBIT B (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 24 of 29 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 28 of 191



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 25 of 29 

From: John Howe <jhowe2013@yahoo.com> 

Sent: Thursday, September 30, 2021 10:58 AM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Proposed Project at 2055 & 2057 E Rush St 

 

Hello Andrea, 

 

I am writing in response to the notice recently placed on 2055 & 2057 E Rush Street. I am the 

new homeowner of 2053 E Rush Street and have been in the home for around a month. I 

purchased this particular house because of the opportunity to acquire the adjacent lot (2055 & 

2057 E Rush) as a side yard. I actually inquired about these properties shortly after I moved in 

(8/20/21) and have sent follow-up inquiries through the PHDC website. 
 

I have been pursuing this because of the potential to improve the value and camaraderie of the 

neighborhood, particularly our block. In the short time living in 2053 E Rush, my wife and I have 

made valuable connections with our neighbors and community members. We recently relocated 

from Texas after a brief stay in Ohio. At both previous home communities, I have been 

extensively involved in community organizing and engagement. I plan to continue this within 

our new community here in Philadelphia as well. Keeping these lots within the ownership of the 

community members is critical to building upon those essential relationships. 
 

By purchasing these pieces of land, we would also be working to beautify the area. As of now, 

the land has overgrown weeds and greenery as well as trash. We would clear these lots and put 

forth the necessary effort to make the lot look appealing - furthering the value of the 

neighborhood. 

 

I hope you consider this message, as it was my hope to buy this house and the side yard. A 

representative told me from PHDC that this could happen. I was told that I just needed to 

complete the inquiry online, which I did. I have been awaiting a response. 
 

I am happy to discuss this further with you and will be awaiting your response.  

 

Best, 

 

Jonathan Howe, Ph.D. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 29 of 191

mailto:jhowe2013@yahoo.com


EXHIBIT C (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 26 of 29 

From: Oliver, Shalea <shaoliver@pa.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, October 5, 2021 10:01 AM 

To: Andrea Saah 

Subject: Land Bank Comments - 19134 
 
Hello, 
 
I am writing in reference to the notice posted regarding Philadelphia Land Bank properties in 19134, 
including 2055 E Rush Street and 2057 E Rush Street. I purchased a home on the 2000 block of E. Rush St in 
August 2020. Throughout my time here this block in particular has been plagued with ongoing streams of 
violence and drug activity. While I am pleased that there is continuing construction being proposed, my main 
concern extends to the indication that some lots will become multi-family units. There are a myriad of 
problems that come from renters – of particular concern is mainly turnover and lack of interest to participate 
and contribute to the community due to little monetary and longstanding residency investments in the 
property and neighborhood. Quite frankly, the 2000 block of E. Rush St has enough problems and current 
homeowners would like to continue to populate this block with indivduals looking to build and invest time 
and energy into making this a safer community. I would like to look past investor profit potential to highlight 
the fact that these small blocks in particular will benefit from the stability of home ownership which generally 
comes with individuals that are committed to improving the welfare and safety of the block and surrounding 
neighborhood as a result of protecting their financial investment. There are also multiple large scale projects 
being proposed within just a few blocks radius. 2149 E Rush St proposes 86 units, 2200 E. Somerset St with 
535 units, 2750R Aramingo Ave with 231 units, 2157 E. Lehigh Ave with 278 units, 2616 Frankford Ave with 
460 units, 2046 E. Lehigh Ave with 21 units, not to mention the rentals currently available at Kensington 
Courts at 2037 E. Lehigh Ave. This potentially results in nearly a thousand units that will very likely 
oversaturate the market and demand in this area. With that being said, my only personal request is for there 
to be sincere evaluation and consideration of focusing on single family homes instead of multi-family 
properties in this neighborhood and on 2000 E. Rush Street in particular. Please consider not only the 
upcoming projects, but the community need for full ownership and participation and not just a recurring 
cycle of renters. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Shalea Oliver, IMCW 
Department of Human Services 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 30 of 191

mailto:shaoliver@pa.gov


EXHIBIT D 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 27 of 29 

PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED IN Q&A 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING  

Tuesday, October 12, 2021 at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 31 of 191



EXHIBIT D (continued) 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 28 of 29 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 32 of 191



EXHIBIT E 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes of October 12, 2021 Page 29 of 29 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021 – 49 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
2505 EMERALD STREET  

TO CIVETTA PROPERTY GROUP, LLC 

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank 
(“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property 
of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land 
Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms 
and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interest 
of the Land Bank to convey 2505 Emerald Street (the “Property”) to Civetta Property Group, LLC 
(the “Purchaser”). 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for One Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($1,000.00) 
is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of 
Philadelphia City Council.  
 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-
404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on October 12, 2021. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ______________ dated _________________. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 33 of 191

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


NOVEMBER 9, 2021 PLB BOARD MEETING 

MATERIALS FOR AGENDA ITEM 4.A(1) 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 34 of 191



RESOLUTION NO. 2021 – ____ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
1739 S. 5TH STREET; 1919 S. 6TH STREET; 2612 S. 9TH STREET;  

411, 418, 424, 432-34, 624, 626 CANTRELL STREET; 424, 426 MERCY STREET  
TO BVG PROPERTY GROUP LLC 

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank 
(“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 
Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interest of 
the Land Bank to convey 1739 S. 5th Street; 1919 S. 6th Street; 2612 S. 9th Street; 411, 418, 424, 432-34, 
624, 626 Cantrell Street; and 424, 426 Mercy Street (collectively, the “Property”) to BVG Property Group 
LLC (the “Purchaser”). 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Eighteen Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($18,000.00) 
is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of 
Philadelphia City Council.  
 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time and 
at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be 
necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land 
Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on ___________________. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ______________ dated _________________. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 35 of 191

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021 

1. ADDRESS:
1739 S. 5th Street; 1919 S. 6th Street; 2612 S. 9th Street; 411, 418, 424, 432-34, 624, 626 
Cantrell Street; 424, 426 Mercy Street

2. PROPERTY INFORMATION

Zip Code: 19148 
Census Tract: 002701, 
004201, 004101, 004102 

Council District: 1 

Zoning: RSA-5, RM-1 Lot Area: 8,739 SF (total) 

OPA Value: $451,700 Appraised Value: $860,000 

Redevelopment Area: N/A Urban Renewal Area: N/A 

3. APPLICANT INFORMATION

Applicant Name: BVG Property Group, LLC Type: Business / Legal Entity 

Entity Owners: Justin Veasey, Joseph F. Byrne IV and Daniel Govberg 

Mailing Address: 1516 N. 5th Street, Suite 507, Philadelphia, PA 19122 

Authorized Contact: Justin Veasey 

Application Date: September 17, 2021 

4. PROJECT INFORMATION

Disposition Type: Non-Comp: 51% of Site as Affordable, 
Workforce, or Mixed Income Housing 

Strategic Plan Goal (Land Bank Only): Housing - 
Workforce (61%-120% AMI) 

Price Paid at Settlement: $16,500 Proposed Use: Residential 

Development Type: New Construction No. of Buildings: 12 

Units: 14 units - Residential / 0 units - Commercial End User: Mixed 

Gross Floor Area (sq. ft.): 19,150 (sq. ft.) Construction Cost / sq. ft.: $150 per sq. ft. 

Construction Costs: $2,872,500 

Project Funding Available: Committed and Verified - 
Applicant has provided documentation of available, 
committed funds in an amount no less than total project 
costs. 

Total Project Costs: $5,317,956 Mortgage Amount : $N/A 

5. APPROVALS, DEADLINES, EOP

Agreement Executed: TBD Economic Opportunity Plan Goals:  25% MBE /10% WBE 

Land Bank Board Approval: TBD PRA Board Approval: N/A 

Construction Commencement Deadline: 3 months after 
settlement 

Construction Completion Deadline: 18 months after 
settlement 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 36 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021 

6. DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY

How was title acquired?  The properties at 1919 S. 6th Street and 411 Cantrell Street are owned by the Land 
Bank.  The properties at 2612 S. 9th Street, 418 Cantrell Street, 424 Cantrell Street and 432-34 Cantrell Street are 
owned by the PRA.  The properties at 1739 S. 5th Street, 424 Mercy Street, 426 Mercy Street and 624 Cantrell 
Street are owned by the City.  The property at 626 Cantrell Street is owned by PHDC.  All of the properties other 
than the PRA properties have the approvals to be transferred to the Land Bank.  The PRA properties are in the 
process of being approved for transfer to the Land Bank.  

Project Summary: 
Applicant plans to develop a project with fourteen (14) mixed income homeownership and rental units.  Two (2) 
single-family units will be leased to households with incomes at 60% AMI, and six (6) single-family units will be 
leased to households with incomes at 80% AMI.  One triplex will include three (3) market rate rental units at 
1739 S. 5th Street, while the remaining three (3) single-family units will be sold at market rate at 424 Mercy 
Street, 426 Mercy Street and 1919 S. 6th Street.  Affordable rental units will be evenly split between two and 
three-bedroom units. Market rate rental units will include two (2) two-bedroom units and one (1) three-
bedroom unit. For sale units will have three bedrooms. The applicant has experience developing single and multi-
family rentals throughout the city.  The disposition qualifies for a discounted purchase price, as more than 51% of 
the total units will be affordable.  An Economic Opportunity Plan will apply for this project.  

Summary of Restrictions or Covenants:  This transaction is subject to the following only if the box is checked: 

☒ Irrevocable Power of Attorney ☒Right of Re-entry/Reverter

A Declaration of Restrictive Covenants will be placed on the affordable rental units to ensure they remain 
affordable for 15 years, and tenants in those units will be income-certified. 

Of the affordable rental homes, four 2-BR homes will rent at $1,550/month (80% AMI), two 3-BR homes will rent 
at $1,400/month (60% AMI), and two 3-BR homes will rent at $1,850/month (80% AMI). 

At 80% AMI, the upper limit for a 2-BR rental home is $1,702, and the upper limit for a 3-BR home is $1,996. 
At 60% AMI, the upper limit for a 3-BR rental home is $1,474.   

7. STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends the disposition of 1739 S. 5th Street; 1919 S. 6th Street; 2612 S. 9th Street; 411, 418, 424, 
432-34, 624, 626 Cantrell Street; 424, 426 Mercy Street to BVG Property Group, LLC for the development of
mixed-income housing.

Prepared by: Brian Romano – Project Manager II 

Reviewed by: Jessie Lawrence – Director of Real Estate 

Attachments - If box below is checked, the item is attached. 

☐ Property photos

☒ Site Plan

☒ Floor Plans

☒ Sources and Uses (Excel spreadsheet)

☒ Appraisal Summary Page

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 37 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

SITE PLAN 

 
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 38 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

FLOOR PLANS 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 39 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 40 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 41 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 42 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 43 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 44 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 45 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 46 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 47 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 48 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 49 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 50 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 51 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 52 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 53 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 54 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

  

SOURCE OF FUNDS

Committed  (Y/N) Source % Total

Senior Debt No $3,809,194.55 70.00%

Subordinate Debt $0.00 0.00%

Developer Equity Yes $1,632,511.95 30.00%

Other - describe to the right $0.00 0.00%

TOTAL SOURCE OF FUNDS $5,441,706.50 100.00%

USE OF FUNDS
HARD COSTS

ACQUISITION Cost % Total

Property Acquisition $16,500.00 0.31%

Closing Costs $27,500.00 0.52%

Other - describe in space to the right $46,500.00 0.87%

UNIT CONSTRUCTION

Complete table at bottom of page $2,872,500.00 54.02%

OTHER CONSTRUCTION

Landscaping $25,000.00 0.47%

Permits $49,500.00 0.93%

Clearance and Demolition $110,000.00 2.07%

Utility Connections & Tap Fees $100,000.00 1.88%

INFRASTRUCTURE

Streets and Sidewalks $50,000.00 0.94%

Water and Sewer $100,000.00 1.88%

Stormwater & Drainage $75,000.00 1.41%

Impact Fees $0.00 0.00%

OTHER HARD COSTS

Hard Cost Contingency $256,349.50 4.82%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

TOTAL HARD COSTS $3,728,849.50 70.12%

SOFT COSTS 

PROFESSIONAL FEES

Site Planning $50,000.00 0.94%

Architecture & Engineering $460,000.00 8.65%

Legal $60,500.00 1.14%

Consultant $15,000.00 0.28%

Survey $75,000.00 1.41%

Market Study $10,000.00 0.19%

Environmental $110,000.00 2.07%

Organization Expense $0.00 0.00%

Other Consultants 0.00%

FINANCE COSTS

Construction Loan Interest $130,805.00 2.46%

Construction Origination $65,402.00 1.23%

Appraisal $9,900.00 0.19%

Construction Insurance $25,000.00 0.47%

Property Taxes $27,500.00 0.52%

OTHER SOFT COSTS

Holding Costs $0.00 0.00%

Soft Cost Contingency $0.00 0.00%

Developer Fee, if applicable $550,000.00 10.34%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

TOTAL SOFT COSTS $1,589,107.00 29.88%

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $5,317,956.50 100.00%

Construction/Rehab. Costs

Unit Description Unit Sq. Ft. Cost/Sq. Ft. Unit Cost # Units Total Const. Cost Total Sq. Ft. Total Sq. Ft. %

1 Single Family Residential Home 1,850 $150.00 $277,500.00 3 $832,500.00 5,550 28.98%

2 2 Bedroom Single Family Home 1,300 $150.00 $195,000.00 4 $780,000.00 5,200 27.15%

3 2 Bedroom Condo 800 $150.00 $120,000.00 2 $240,000.00 1,600 8.36%

4 3 Bedroom Single Family Home 1,300 $150.00 $195,000.00 4 $780,000.00 5,200 27.15%

5 3 Bedroom Condo 1,600 $150.00 $240,000.00 1 $240,000.00 1,600 8.36%

TOTALS $1,027,500.00 14 $2,872,500.00 19,150 100.00%

Land Development Financial Worksheet

Daniel Govberg (See Proof of Funds Attached)

$30,000 Acquisition Legal Fees; $16,500 Title Insurance & Recording Fees

Michael Messina (Ocean's First Bank)

Indicate Source and, if applicable, describe

DEVELOPMENT BUDGET/ SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

411 Cantrell Street; 418 Cantrell Street; 424 Cantrell Street; 432-434 Cantrell Street

Applicant: 

Please insert data only in the unshaded (white) cells.  Please confirm that total sources of funds and total uses of funds are equal. 

Property Address: 1739 S 5th Street; 424 Mercy Street; 426 Mercy Street; 624 Cantrell Street; 626 Cantrell Street; 1919 S 6th Street, 2612 S 9th Street; 

BVG Property Group, LLC  (South Philadelphia)

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 55 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 56 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

PROPERTY APPRAISAL 

       PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         1739 S. 5th Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $85,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  City of Philadelphia 
 
      -1- 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 57 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 
   PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 
 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         1919 S. 6th Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $85,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
Philadelphia Land Bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 58 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 
   PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 
 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2612 S. 9th Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $85,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
PRA. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  PRA 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 59 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         411 Cantrell Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $70,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
Philadelphia Land Bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:   Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 60 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         418 Cantrell Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $70,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
PRA. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 61 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 
 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         424 Cantrell Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $70,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
PRA. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 62 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         432-34 Cantrell Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $85,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
PRA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
      -1- 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 63 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         624 Cantrell Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $75,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 64 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         626 Cantrell Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $75,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
PHDC. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 65 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         424 Mercy Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $80,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 66 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  

 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         426 Mercy Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19148 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $80,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT:  Philadelphia Land Bank 
 
      -1- 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 67 of 191



 

 

 

 

 

 
NOVEMBER 9, 2021 PLB BOARD MEETING 

 
MATERIALS FOR AGENDA ITEM 4.A(2) 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 68 of 191



RESOLUTION NO. 2021 – ____ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  
2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. BIRCH STREET; 2032 E. LEHIGH AVENUE; 2055, 2057 E. RUSH 

STREET; 2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. STELLA STREET  
TO BVG PROPERTY GROUP LLC 

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land Bank 
(“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real property of the 
Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the Land Bank, subject 
to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the terms and conditions of 
Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interest of 
the Land Bank to convey 2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. Birch Street; 2032 E. Lehigh Avenue; 2055, 2057 E. 
Rush Street; and 2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. Stella Street (collectively, the 
“Property”) to BVG Property Group LLC (the “Purchaser”). 

  
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 

Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Twenty-Two Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 
Dollars ($22,500.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval 
by resolution of Philadelphia City Council.  
 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of 
the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each hereby 

authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, and perform 
any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or desirable, to consummate 
the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”) and, from time to time and 
at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be 
necessary or desirable.  The Transaction Documents and any amendments, supplements, and 
modifications thereto shall contain such terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior 
Counsel shall deem necessary or appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so 
executed and delivered by the Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land 
Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior Counsel 
will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting following the 
date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on ___________________. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ______________ dated _________________. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 69 of 191

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=jumplink$jumplink_x=Advanced$jumplink_vpc=first$jumplink_xsl=querylink.xsl$jumplink_sel=title;path;content-type;home-title;item-bookmark$jumplink_d=pennsylvania(philadelphia_pa)$jumplink_q=%5bfield%20folio-destination-name:%27Chapter%2016-400%27%5d$jumplink_md=target-id=JD_Chapter16-400


DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

1. ADDRESS: 
2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. Birch Street; 2032 E. Lehigh Avenue; 2055, 2057 E. Rush 
Street; 2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. Stella Street  

2. PROPERTY INFORMATION 

 

Zip Code: 19125 and 19134  
Census Tract: 016100, 
017800, 017900 

Council District: 1 

Zoning: RSA-5, RM-1 Lot Area: 11,687 

OPA Value: $255,800 Appraised Value: $705,000 

Redevelopment Area: N/A Urban Renewal Area: N/A 

3. APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Applicant Name: BVG Property Group, LLC Type: Business / Legal Entity 

Entity Owners: Justin Veasey, Joseph F. Byrne IV and Daniel Govberg 

Mailing Address: 1516 N. 5th Street, Suite 507, Philadelphia, PA 19122 

Authorized Contact: Justin Veasey  

Application Date: May 7, 2021 

4. PROJECT INFORMATION 

Disposition Type: Non-Comp: 51% of Site as Affordable, 
Workforce, or Mixed Income Housing 

Strategic Plan Goal (Land Bank Only): Housing - 
Affordable (31%-60% AMI) 

Price Paid at Settlement: $22,500 Proposed Use: Residential 

Development Type: New Construction No. of Buildings: 15 

Units: 18 units - Residential / 0 units - Commercial End User: Mixed  

Gross Floor Area (sq. ft.): 24,825(sq. ft.) Construction Cost / sq. ft.: $150 per sq. ft. 

Construction Costs: $3,723,750 

Project Funding Available: Committed and Verified - 
Applicant has provided documentation of available, 
committed funds in an amount no less than total project 
costs. 

Total Project Costs: $6,498,340 Mortgage Amount: $N/A 

5. APPROVALS, DEADLINES, EOP 

Agreement Executed: TBD Economic Opportunity Plan Goals: 25% MBE / 10% WBE 

Land Bank Board Approval: TBD PRA Board Approval: N/A 

Construction Commencement Deadline: 3 months after 
settlement 

Construction Completion Deadline: 18 months after 
settlement 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 70 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

6. DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY 

 How was title acquired?  The properties at 2032 E. Lehigh Avenue and 2057 E. Rush Street are currently owned by 
the PRA and have all the approvals to be transferred to the Land Bank.  All the other properties are currently 
owned by the City and have been approved for transfer to the Land Bank.  
 
Project Summary: 
Developer plans to develop eighteen (18) rental units, of which twelve (12) will be affordable.  Two (2) single-
family units will be leased to households at 60% AMI, and ten (10) single-family units will be leased to households 
with incomes at 80% AMI.  The other six (6) units will leased at market-rate.  There will be an even split between 
two-bedroom and three-bedrooms units in the affordable units and market rate units. The applicant has 
experience developing single-family and multi-family rentals throughout the city.  The disposition qualifies for a 
discounted purchase price, as more than 51% of the total units will be affordable.  The Economic Opportunity Plan 
will apply for this project.  
 
Summary of Restrictions or Covenants:  This transaction is subject to the following only if the box is checked:  

☒ Irrevocable Power of Attorney  ☒Right of Re-entry/Reverter 

 
A Declaration of Restrictive Covenants will be placed on the affordable rental units to ensure that they remain 
affordable for 15 years, and tenants in those units will be income-certified.   
 
Of the affordable rental homes, six 2-BR homes will rent at $1,550/month (80% AMI), two 3-BR homes will rent at 
$1,450/month (60% AMI), and four 3-BR homes will rent at $1,850/month (80% AMI) 
 
At 80% AMI, the upper limit for a 2-BR rental home is $1,702, and for a 3-BR home is $1,996.   
At 60% AMI, the upper limit for a 3-BR rental home is $1,474.   

   
7. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the disposition of 2148, 2150, 2154, 2156 E. Birch Street; 2032 E. Lehigh Avenue; 2055, 
2057 E. Rush Street; and 2154, 2155, 2156, 2157, 2158, 2159, 2160, 2161 E. Stella Street to BVG Property 
Group, LLC for the development of mixed-income rental housing. 

 

Prepared by: Brian Romano – Project Manager II 

Reviewed by: Jessie Lawrence – Director of Real Estate 

 

Attachments - If box below is checked, the item is attached. 

☐ Property photos 

☐ Site Plan 

☒ Floor Plans 

☒ Sources and Uses (Excel spreadsheet) 

☒ Appraisal Summary Page 
 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 71 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 72 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 73 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 74 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

   Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 75 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 76 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 77 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 78 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 79 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 80 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 81 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 82 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

  

SOURCE OF FUNDS

Committed  (Y/N) Source % Total

Senior Debt No $4,548,838.00 70.00%

Subordinate Debt $0.00 0.00%

Developer Equity Yes $1,949,502.00 30.00%

Other - describe to the right $0.00 0.00%

TOTAL SOURCE OF FUNDS $6,498,340.00 100.00%

USE OF FUNDS
HARD COSTS

ACQUISITION Cost % Total

Property Acquisition $22,500.00 0.35%

Closing Costs $37,500.00 0.58%

Other - describe in space to the right $52,500.00 0.81%

UNIT CONSTRUCTION

Complete table at bottom of page $3,723,750.00 57.30%

OTHER CONSTRUCTION

Landscaping $25,000.00 0.38%

Permits $67,500.00 1.04%

Clearance and Demolition $150,000.00 2.31%

Utility Connections & Tap Fees $100,000.00 1.54%

INFRASTRUCTURE

Streets and Sidewalks $50,000.00 0.77%

Water and Sewer $100,000.00 1.54%

Stormwater & Drainage $75,000.00 1.15%

Impact Fees $0.00 0.00%

OTHER HARD COSTS

Hard Cost Contingency $256,349.50 3.94%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

TOTAL HARD COSTS $4,660,099.50 71.71%

SOFT COSTS 

PROFESSIONAL FEES

Site Planning $50,000.00 0.77%

Architecture & Engineering $390,000.00 6.00%

Legal $82,500.00 1.27%

Consultant $15,000.00 0.23%

Survey $75,000.00 1.15%

Market Study $10,000.00 0.15%

Environmental $115,000.00 1.77%

Organization Expense $0.00 0.00%

Other Consultants 0.00%

FINANCE COSTS

Construction Loan Interest $194,003.00 2.99%

Construction Origination $80,737.50 1.24%

Appraisal $13,500.00 0.21%

Construction Insurance $25,000.00 0.38%

Property Taxes $37,500.00 0.58%

OTHER SOFT COSTS

Holding Costs $0.00 0.00%

Soft Cost Contingency $0.00 0.00%

Developer Fee, if applicable $750,000.00 11.54%

Other - describe in space to the right $0.00 0.00%

TOTAL SOFT COSTS $1,838,240.50 28.29%

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COST $6,498,340.00 100.00%

Construction/Rehab. Costs

Unit Description Unit Sq. Ft. Cost/Sq. Ft. Unit Cost # Units Total Const. Cost Total Sq. Ft. Total Sq. Ft. %

1 2 Bedroom Condo 925 $150.00 $138,750.00 3 $416,250.00 2,775 11.18%

2 2 Bedroom Single Family Home 1,300 $150.00 $195,000.00 6 $1,170,000.00 7,800 31.42%

3 3 Bedroom Condo 1,850 $150.00 $277,500.00 1 $277,500.00 1,850 7.45%

4 3 Bedroom Single Family Home 1,300 $150.00 $195,000.00 6 $1,170,000.00 7,800 31.42%

5 4 Bedroom Condo 2,300 $150.00 $345,000.00 2 $690,000.00 4,600 18.53%

TOTALS $1,151,250.00 18 $3,723,750.00 24,825 100.00%

2158 E. Stella St; 2160 E. Stella St; 2159 E. Stella St; 2160 E. Stella St; 2154 E. Birch St; 2156 E. Birch St; 2148 E. Birch St; 2150 E. Birch St

Applicant: 

Property Address: 2032 E. Lehigh Ave; 2055 E. Rush Street; 2057 E. Rush Street; 2154 E. Stella Street; 2156 E. Stella Street; 2155 E. Stella Street; 2157 E. Stella Street

BVG Property Group, LLC  (Port Richmond)

Land Development Financial Worksheet

Daniel Govberg (See Proof of Funds Attached)

$30,000 Acquisition Legal Fees; $22,500 Title Insurance & Recording Fees

Michael Messina (Ocean's First Bank)

Indicate Source and, if applicable, describe

DEVELOPMENT BUDGET/ SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 83 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 
Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 84 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2032 Lehigh Ave 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19125 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $105,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
PRA. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
PRA 
      -1- 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 85 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

        PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2148 Birch Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 86 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

        PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2150 Birch Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 87 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

         PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2154 Birch Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 88 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

   PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2154 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 89 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

          PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2155 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 90 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

          PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2156 Birch Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 91 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

          PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2156 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 92 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

 

         PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2157 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 93 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

       PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2158 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 94 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

   PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2159 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 95 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

   PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2160 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 96 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

          PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2161 Stella Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $40,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
AUGUST 18, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF AUGUST 18, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
City of Philadelphia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 97 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2055 Rush Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $60,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by City 
of Philadelphia. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
Philadelphia Land Bank 
      -1- 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 98 of 191



DEVELOPMENT FACT SHEET 
Last Updated: 11/4/2021  

 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
Danielle Deuber, Staff Appraiser 

 

 This is a Restricted Use Appraisal Report which is intended to comply with the reporting requirements 
set forth under Standards Rule 2-2 (c) of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice 
(“USPAP”). As such, it does not present discussion of the data, reasoning and analyses used to develop 
the opinion of value, except for commentary contained in the scope of work section of this report.  
Supporting documentation concerning the data, reasoning, and analyses is retained in the work file of the 
appraiser. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the Philadelphia Land 
Bank of the and for the intended use stated in the report.  The appraiser is not responsible for the 
unauthorized use of this report. The analyses, opinions and conclusions relating to the subject property 
were developed, and this report has been prepared in conformity with USPAP requirements. The estimate 
of value is subject to certain Limiting Conditions and Assumptions outlined in this report.  
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:         2057 Rush Street 
                                                                                        Philadelphia, PA  19134 
                                                                                              
OPINION OF VALUE:                                       $60,000  
                                                                                        
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE EXISTING AS OF 
SEPTEMBER 29, 2021 THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE:    Vacant Land 
 
 
USE OF REAL ESTATE REFLECTED 
IN THIS APPRAISAL AS OF SEPTEMBER 29, 2021                   Vacant Land  
 
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY OWNERSHIP AND SALES HISTORY: The subject property is owned by 
PRA. 
 
 
 
 
 
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CLIENT: 
 
Philadelphia Land Bank 
      -1- 

                                                  
 
 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for November 9, 2021 Page 99 of 191




